
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

                                         Plaintiff,    CASE 2:08-cr-20585-DML-DAS

     v.                                                  HON.: DAVID M. LAWSON

D-1 PETER HENDRICKSON,     

                                     Defendant.
_________________________________/

GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO
DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS INDICTMENT

The United States Attorney for the Eastern District of Michigan, by and through the

undersigned attorneys, file this the Government’s Response to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss

Indictment.

INTRODUCTION

On January 15, 2009, the defendant filed a motion to dismiss the indictment on three

grounds:

(a) The prosecution is violative of the Due Process Clause and the First Amendment in that

the government has engaged in a vindictive prosecution intended to punish the defendant

for exercising his right to free speech by penning and publishing the an anti-tax tract

entitled “Cracking the Code”;

(b) The prosecution is violaitve of the Due Process Clause and the First Amendment in that

the government has engaged in selective prosecution of the defendant; and

Case 2:08-cr-20585-GER-DAS     Document 21      Filed 01/28/2009     Page 1 of 12



2

(c) The criminal prosecution impermissibly abridges the defendant’s First Amendment right

to make a political statement through the filing of a false and fraudulent return.  

The motion should be denied as the purported grounds for dismissal are legally baseless

and unsupported by the facts.

FACTS

On November 6, 2008, a Grand Jury returned an indictment charging Peter Hendrickson

with ten counts of filing a false document, all in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1).  The

indictment alleges that Hendrickson was employed by Personnel Management, Inc., from 2000

through 2006 and in each of those years he received wages from his employer.  Personnel

Management dutifully reported to the Internal Revenue Service the wages paid to Hendrickson

as follows:  $51,666 in 2000; $58,965 in 2002; $60,608 in 2003; $62,433 in 2004; $64,310 in

2005; and $20,494 in 2006.  Counts One through Four of the Indictment allege that Hendrickson

made and subscribed U.S. Individual Income Tax Returns, Forms 1040 for calendar years 2000,

2002, 2003 and 2004 in which he falsely reported that he received no wages in each year. 

Counts Five through Ten further allege that Hendrickson made and subscribed Substitutes for

Form W-2, Wage and Tax Statement, Forms 4852 for calendar years 2000 and 2002 through

2006 in which he falsely reported that he received no wages from Personnel Management in each

year.

The defendant is a recidivist tax defier and felon who has persisted in his anti-tax

activities despite a term of incarceration and repeated failures to judicially contest his legitimate

tax obligations.  In 1991, the defendant entered a plea of guilty to failure to file a return, in
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violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7203, and conspiracy to possess a destructive device, in violation of 18

U.S.C. § 371 and 26 U.S.C. §§ 5861, 5871.  See United States v. Hendrickson, Crim. No. 91-

80930 (E.D. Mich.).  The conspiracy arose from the defendant’s participation in preparing a

destructive device, wrapped in a padded envelope that was addressed to “The Tax Thieves” that

was placed in a mail bin on April 16, 1991 as a form of violent anti-tax protest.  Further, the

government successfully secured a grant of summary judgment in a civil proceeding in which the

defendant was ordered to return refunds erroneously issued to him for tax years 2002 and 2003

(two of the years at issue in this prosecution) and the defendant was permanently enjoined from

filing any documents with the IRS that comport with the frivolous legal theories set forth in his

anti-tax screed, “Cracking the Code.”  See Amended Judgment and Order of Permanent

Injunction, United States v. Hendrickson, Civ. No, 06-11753 (E.D. Mich. May 2, 2007).

ARGUMENT

I. The Government has Engaged in Neither Vindictive Nor Selective Prosecution

The defendant sets forth a single argument that the indictment should be dismissed as the

government has engaged in a selective and vindictive prosecution.  The government rejects both

assertions and the record is barren of any evidence to support them.  As there are separate legal

standard for claims of selective and vindictive prosecution, the government will address them

individually.

A. There Is No Evidence That The Defendant Has Been Selectively Prosecuted

The defendant seeks dismissal of the indictment on the grounds that the government has

engaged in selective prosecution.  Although he fails to offer any evidence to support his claim,
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1 It is curious to note that the defendant does not seek dismissal of the indictment on the
grounds that the returns and Forms 4852 that he filed were correct as matter of law.  The
defendant unsuccessfully presented such arguments in a civil action involving his false 2002 and
2003 returns and the false Form 4852 that he filed with those returns.  See United States v.
Hendrickson, Civ. No. 06-11753 (NGE).  In that proceeding, the United States sought injunctive
relief and recovery of erroneous refunds issued to the defendant and his wife after they filed false
returns and Form 4852 for each year.  The Court granted the government’s motion for summary
judgment, labeling the returns and Forms 4852 filed by the defendant and his wife as “deliberate
misstatements”, Report and Recommendation, p. 9,  and rejecting their legal arguments as
“‘among an array of shopworn and quixotic arguments, having currency among so-called ‘tax
protesters’, but without any support in the law.”  Id., p. 7 (quoting Spencer v. Social Security
Admin,, 2006 WL 695782, at *3 (E.D. Mich. 2006)).

The Sixth Circuit affirmed the grant of summary judgement and issuance of the
injunction.  The court rebuffed Hendrickson’s arguments that he was not an “employee” who
received “wages” with the dismissive comment that it was “the typical tax protester argument
that income is not taxable.”  United States v. Hendrickson, No. 07-1510 (6th Cir. June 11, 2008). 
The Court later assailed the “patent baselessness” of the frivolous appeal lodged by the
defendant and his wife and granted the government’s motion for an award of $4,000 in sanctions.
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the defendant seeks discovery and a hearing on the issue.  The argument should be rejected - and

the request for discovery and a hearing denied – as the defendant has failed to make any showing

that he has been inappropriately targeted.

A request to dismiss an indictment for selective prosecution is not a defense on the merits

of the charge, but instead is an independent assertion that the prosecution was brought for

reasons forbidden by the Constitution.1  United States v. Armstrong, 517 U.S. 456, 463 (1996).  

The Courts have recognized that the executive branch has limited prosecutorial resources, and

that any prosecution has some element of selectivity.  Oyler v. Boles, 368 U.S. 442, 456 (1962)

(“[T]he conscious exercise of some selectivity in enforcement is not in itself a federal

constitutional violation. Even though the statistics in this case may imply a policy of selective

enforcement, it was not stated that the selection was based upon an unjustifiable standard such as

race, religion or other arbitrary classification. Therefore grounds supporting a finding of a denial
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2  Although anecdotal, counsel for the United States successfully prosecuted
Roger Menner in the Eastern District of Virginia for following a similar scheme as the
defendant.  Menner operated his carpentry business as a sole proprietorship from 1991 through
1995 and 2001 through 2005 .  Although he worked as a subcontractor and received
compensation in years 1991 through 1995 that was reported to him on Forms 1099, he “rebutted”
those amounts by filing false Forms 4852 that reported “zero” amounts paid and filed amended
returns showing “zero” income from his business each of those years.  He also filed returns for
tax years 2001 through 2005 that reported “zero” business income.  After a three-day trial, a jury
convicted Menner of five counts of making and subscribing false returns for tax years 2001
through 2005, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1), and one count of corruptly endeavoring to
impede the administration of the Internal Revenue Code, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7212(a). 
See United States v. Menner, No 08-CR-322 (E.D.Va.).  His sentencing is scheduled for
February 20, 2009 in Richmond, Virginia.
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of equal protection were not alleged.”).  In order to present a successful defense of selective or

discriminatory prosecution:

[A] defendant bears the heavy burden of establishing, at least prima facie, (1) that,
while others similarly situated have not generally been proceeded against because
of conduct of the type forming the basis of the charge against him, he has been
singled out for prosecution, and (2) that the government’s discriminatory selection
of him for prosecution has been invidious or in bad faith, i.e., based upon such
impermissible considerations as race, religion, or the desire to prevent his exercise
of constitutional rights.

United States v. Hazel,696 F.2d 473, 474-75 (6th cir. 1983) (quoting United States v. Berrios,

501 F.2d 1207, 1211 (2d Cir. 1974)).

As an initial matter, the defendant has failed to make any showing that other similarly

situated to him have not been prosecuted.  Instead, he admits that the government has been

targeting practitioners of his false return scheme.  First, the admits that there have been some,

albeit “very few”, prosecutions of individuals who filed false returns following the same false

scheme as the defendant.2  Motion, p. 7.  Further, the defendant acknowledges that the

government has engaged in a concerted effort to pursue practitioners of his fraudulent return

Case 2:08-cr-20585-GER-DAS     Document 21      Filed 01/28/2009     Page 5 of 12



3  When the government brought its civil action against Hendrickson and his wife in
2006, it contemporaneously filed six other actions against individuals who followed the same
false return scheme.  See http://www.usdoj.gov/tax/txdv06219.htm.  Further, it listed
Hendrickson’s false return scheme as #1 on its “Dirty Dozen” list of Tax Scams for 2006 in a
press release issued to national media.  See
http://www.irs.gov/newsroom/article/0,,id=154293,00.html.  The language of the press release
presages this prosecution as it states that “involvement with tax schemes can lead to
imprisonment and fines.”  Id.  
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scheme through civil and criminal enforcement actions.3  See Brief, p.4 & n.5.  The fact that

some tax evaders and defiers elude prosecution, while others suffer its pains, is insufficient to

establish selective prosecution.  See, e.g., United States v. Brewer, 681 F.2d 973, 974 (5th Cir.

1982) (per curiam) (“The fact that tax protestors are prosecuted demonstrates nothing more than

a legitimate interest in punishing flagrant violators and deterring others.  There will always be

some tax evaders and tax protestors who elude prosecution.  That fact alone is insufficient to

establish selective prosecution.”).

Even if the defendant had satisfied the first prong of the test, he cannot show that

impermissible considerations colored the decision to prosecute him.  Court have repeatedly held

that the government has an interest in prosecuting the most vocal tax defiers.

The conscious exercise of some selectivity in enforcement is not in itself a federal
constitutional violation. . . . Selection, moreover, is not impermissible solely because
it focuses upon those most vocal in their opposition to the law which they are
accused of violating. The fact that tax protestors are vigorously prosecuted for
violation of the tax laws demonstrates nothing more than a legitimate interest in
punishing flagrant violators and deterring violations by others.

United States v. Johnson, 577 F.2d 1304, 1309 (5th Cir. 1978) (citations omitted); see also

United States v. Amon, 669 F.2d 1351, 1355-57 (10th Cir. 1981).  The government’s initiation of

prosecution because of a defendant’s “great notoriety” as a tax defier would not, as a matter of

Case 2:08-cr-20585-GER-DAS     Document 21      Filed 01/28/2009     Page 6 of 12



7

law, be an impermissible basis for prosecution. United States v. Hazel, 696 F.2d 473, 475 (6th

Cir. 1983). Indeed, 

[S]election for prosecution based in part on the potential deterrent effect on others
serves a legitimate interest in promoting more general compliance with the tax laws.
Since the government lacks the means to investigate and prosecute every suspected
violation of the tax laws, it makes good sense to prosecute those who will receive,
or are likely to receive, the attention of the media.

United States v. Catlett, 584 F.2d 864, 868 (8th Cir. 1978); see also United States v. Hastings,

126 F.3d at 314-15; United States v. Kelley, 769 F.2d 215, 218 (4th Cir. 1985) (“There is no

impermissible selectivity in a prosecutorial decision to prosecute the ringleader and instigator,

without prosecuting his foolish followers, when a prosecution of the instigator can be expected

to bring the whole affair to an end.”).  It is noticeable that, in contrast to the extensive case law

regarding selective prosecution cited above, the defendant has not cited a single instance where a

court dismissed an indictment of a tax protester because of selective prosecution.

The defendant is a logical choice for prosecution.  He has past convictions for failure to

file returns and has pled guilty to a crime in which he participated in the construction of an

explosive device that was addressed to “the tax thieves” and later placed in a mail bin.  Further,

defendant is a vocal proponent of a false return scheme.  As discussed in the cases cited above,

the government has prosecuted similarly situated individuals and will continue to do so in the

future.  Prosecuting the most notorious tax defier is not bad faith or purposeful discrimination,

but a judicious use of scarce prosecutorial resources.

B. The Defendant Has Failed To Show Any Evidence Of A Vindictive
Prosecution

Defendant claims, without presenting any legal analysis, that he is the victim of a
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vindictive prosecution.  The Constitution prohibits initiating a prosecution based solely on

vindictiveness.  “[F]or an agent of the [United States] to pursue a course of action whose

objective is to penalize a person's reliance on his legal rights” is “a due process violation of the

most basic sort....”  Bordenkircher v. Hayes, 434 U.S. 357, 363 (1978).  To make a claim of

vindictive prosecution, a defendant must show both a discriminatory effect and a discriminatory

purpose or intent.  See United States v. Armstrong, 517 U.S. 456, 465 (1996).  Further, there

must be “clear evidence” of misconduct before discovery is granted .  Id. at 464.

The defendant has presented no evidence of either discriminatory effect or intent.  The

sum total of evidence of a vindictive prosecution is the defendant’s allegation that the

government has pursued him, and not others, for practicing his fraudulent return scheme.  Such

bald statements fail to show either discriminatory intent or effect.  As such, the requests for both

discovery and dismissal should be denied.

II. The Defendant Cannot Hide Behind the First Amendment

The Defendant claims that he is immune from prosecution because the First Amendment

purportedly protects his “right” to file a return contrary to law in order to express his “honest

disagreement” with the tax laws.  Courts have recognized that when the speech in question –

here, the making and subscribing of false returns and documents – constitutes the criminal act,

the First Amendment provides no safe haven.

In Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444, 447 (1969), the Supreme Court held that "the

constitutional guarantees of free speech and free press do not permit a state to forbid or proscribe

advocacy of the use of force or of law violation except where such advocacy is directed to
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inciting or producing imminent lawless action and is likely to incite or produce such action." 

Thus, the Court created an exception to First Amendment protection for speech that incites

imminent lawless activity, as opposed to speech that merely advocates violation of law, which

may still be constitutionally protected.  “[S]peech is not protected by the First Amendment when

it is the very vehicle of the crime itself.”  United States v. Varani, 435 F.2d 758, 762 (6th Cir.

1970) (citing statutes criminalizing perjury, bribery, extortion, threats, and conspiracy).  “When

‘speech’ and ‘nonspeech’ elements are combined in the same course of conduct, a sufficiently

important governmental interest in regulating the nonspeech element can justify incidental

limitations on First Amendment freedoms.”  United States v. O’Brien, 391 U.S. 367, 376 (1968);

see also New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747, 761-62 (1982) (“It has rarely been suggested that the

constitutional freedom for speech . . . extends its immunity to speech or writing used as an

integral part of conduct in violation of a valid criminal statute.”); Cox v. Louisiana, 379 U.S.

559, 563 (1965); Giboney v. Empire Storage & Ice Co., 336 U.S. 490, 502 (1949) (“[I]t has

never been deemed an abridgment of freedom of speech or press to make a course of conduct

illegal merely because the conduct was in part initiated, evidenced, or carried out by means of

language, either spoken, written, or printed.” (citing Fox v. Washington, 236 U.S. 273, 277

(1915)).  Here, the necessity of “maintaining a sound tax system” is the compelling

governmental interest that necessitates any abridgement of the defendant’s speech.. See United

States v. Lee, 455 U.S. 252, 260 (1982); United States v. Malinowski, 472 F.2d 850, 857-58 (3d

Cir. 1973).

Courts frequently have had occasion to apply Brandenburg and its progeny to the specific
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question as to whether anti-tax speech that translates into action, such as the filing of false

documents, constitutes protected speech and have rejected such arguments.  Collett v. United

States, 781 F.2d 53 (6th Cir. 1985) ( upholding grant of summary judgment to government

rejecting argument that false return constituted protected speech and upholding application of

civil penalty for a frivolous return).  See also United States v. Citrowske, 951 F.2d 899 (8th Cir.

1991) (filing of false Form 1099 not protected speech); United States v. Mal, 942 F.2d 682 (9th

Cir.1991) (false W-4 forms filed); United States v. Williams, 928 F.2d 145 (5th Cir. 1991)

(same); United States v. Daly, 756 F.2d 1076 (5th Cir. 1985) (encouraging and assisting in the

filing of false tax returns is not protected speech).  Indeed, in the context of a prosecution for

aiding and assisting the preparation of a false document, the Second Circuit found the First

Amendment argument so baseless that it stated:  “The consensus of this and every other circuit is

that liability for a false or fraudulent tax return cannot be avoided by evoking the First

Amendment.  United States v. Rowlee, 8799 F.32d 1275, 1279 (2d Cir. 1990) (collecting cases). 

As the defendant was engaged in criminal conduct when he made and subscribed the false

documents submitted to the IRS, the First Amendment does shield him from criminal

prosecution.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Indictment should be

denied.

Respectfully submitted,
TERRENCE BERG
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

  
Date: January 28, 2009 By:  _______/s/_____________

Michael Leibson
Assistant U.S. Attorney
211 W. Fort Street, suite 2001
Detroit, MI  48226
(313) 226-9100
Michael.leibson@usdoj.gov

_______/s/_____________
  Mark F. Daly

MA Bar No. 640581
Trial Attorney
United States Department of Justice, Tax Division
P.O. Box 972
Washington, DC  20530
Tel:  (202) 514-5150
Fax:  (202) 616-1786
Mark.F.Daly@usdoj.gov
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This is to certify that on January 28, 2009, an original copy of the foregoing
Government’s Response to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Indictment was filed with the U.S.
District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan and served on counsel for the defendant by
filing the same with the with the Electronic Case Filing system.

_______/s/___________________
Michael Leibson
Assistant U.S. Attorney
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